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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

LAFAYETTE DIVISION 

WILLIAM PIERCE, 

Plaintiff, 
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SHERIFF LOUIS M. ACKAL, et al., 

Defendants. 
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CIVIL ACTION NO. 17-1365 

JUDGE: UNDESIGNATED 

MAGISTRATE JUDGE: HANNA 

PLAINTIFF WILLIAM PIERCE’S  
MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON LIABILITY 

In accordance with Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff 

William Pierce moves for partial summary judgment as to liability.  As discussed in the 

accompanying memorandum in support, the undisputed material facts demonstrate that 

Defendants' actions violated the Americans with Disabilities Act.  

The attached summary judgment evidence demonstrates that after Pierce applied to 

become a deputy sheriff for the Iberia Parish Sheriff's Office, Defendants discriminated against 

him on the basis of his status as a person living with HIV.  Pierce completed IPSO's background 

check and interview process, and he was approved for hire subject to a  

pre-employment medical examination. Pierce revealed his HIV-positive status during the 

examination, and the medical examiners opined that he could safely serve as a deputy sheriff.  Two 

days after receiving the medical examination results, which informed IPSO of Pierce's HIV status, 

the Defendants sent a rejection letter to Pierce.  Defendants cannot articulate a legitimate, 

nondiscriminatory reason for refusing to hire Pierce, and the Court should thus enter a partial 

summary judgment as to liability. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff William Pierce prays that the Court grant summary 

judgment in his favor as to the liability of the Defendants, leaving only the appropriate remedies 

and damages to be decided. 

Dated: November 23, 2018 Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ J. Dalton Courson                     ___  
J. Dalton Courson, La. Bar No. 28542 

dcourson@stonepigman.com
STONE PIGMAN WALTHER WITTMANN L.L.C. 
909 Poydras Street, Suite 3150 
New Orleans, Louisiana  70112 
Telephone:  (504) 581-3200 
Facsimile:  (504) 581-3361 

Scott A. Schoettes, admitted pro hac vice 
sschoettes@lambdalegal.org

LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND EDUCATION
FUND, INC. 
105 W. Adams, Suite 2600 
Chicago, IL 60603 
Telephone:  (312) 663-4413 
Facsimile:  (312) 663-4307 

Anthony C. Pinggera, admitted pro hac vice 
apinggera@lambdalegal.org

LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND EDUCATION
FUND, INC. 
4221 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 280 
Los Angeles, CA 90010 
Telephone: (213) 382-7600 
Facsimile: (213) 351-6050 
COUNSEL FOR WILLIAM PIERCE, PLAINTIFF

C E R T I F I C A T E  

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment on Liability has been served upon all counsel of record by CM/ECF filing, this 23rd day 

of November, 2018. 

/s/ J. Dalton Courson 
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MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF  
MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON LIABILITY 

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) was enacted to protect people living with 

disabilities from discrimination in a variety of contexts, including employment.  In 2009, the 

ADA was amended to make explicit that individuals who suffer from physical impairments that 

substantially limit immune function, including impairments caused by the human 

immunodeficiency virus (“HIV”), are protected by the ADA.  Despite its clear prohibition, 

discrimination against people living with HIV—rooted in outdated misconceptions about the 

virus, its transmission, and the effects on those who are living with it—persists.   

Defendants discriminated against Plaintiff William Pierce based on such outdated 

misconceptions about HIV.  On February 20, 2012, after over a decade working as a first 

responder—including a number of years as a police officer—Pierce applied for a position with 

the Iberia Parish Sheriff’s Office as a deputy sheriff.  He completed the entire interview process 

and was informed that he would be hired if he passed a pre-employment medical exam.  At his 

medical exam, Pierce revealed his HIV-positive status to the healthcare professionals conducting 

the exam.  Even though the medical examiners opined that he could safely serve as a deputy 

sheriff without restrictions or accommodation, Pierce was not hired after IPSO learned of his 

HIV status.   

Faced with these undisputed facts and Pierce’s allegations of disability discrimination, 

IPSO is now attempting to claim that Pierce’s HIV status had nothing to do with their decision.  

Rather, they point to an incident of alleged misconduct that occurred while Pierce was employed 

by the Abbeville Police Department—which Defendants knew about from the very beginning of 

his application process, questioned him about during his interview, and dismissed as unimportant 
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and inconsequential—was the real reason he was rejected for employment as  a deputy sheriff.  

The undisputed facts, the timeline, and IPSO’s own policies and procedures—and the 

requirements of the ADA itself—all belie this purported justification as mere pretext.  Because 

IPSO has not raised a triable issue of material fact as to any element of Pierce’s ADA claim, it is 

appropriate to grant summary judgment on liability in favor of Plaintiff. 

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Plaintiff William Pierce has been living and working in Louisiana since 2005, when he 

came to the state to assist in the recovery in the wake of Hurricane Katrina.  Ex. 1, Pierce Aff., at 

¶ 1.  Pierce brought with him over a decade of experience in public health and public safety from 

his time as a paramedic, emergency medical services (EMS) instructor, and HIV/STD educator 

in Ohio.  Id.  In 2008, he began his law enforcement career as an officer in the Arnaudville 

Police Department.  Id.  In 2009, Pierce moved over to the Abbeville Police Department (APD), 

where he remained until 2012.  Id.  At no point in his nearly fifteen years of experience as a 

police officer and paramedic has his status as a person living with HIV hindered him in any way 

from performing his duties. 

IPSO follows a specific order of procedures in its hiring process.  After receiving an 

application from an individual in whom it is interested, but before inviting that applicant to 

interview, IPSO conducts a background check.  Ex. 3, Raborn Dep., pp. 122:15-123:3.1  This 

background check includes investigation into prior employment, including if necessary the 

circumstances of an individual’s termination from a prior position.  Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., pp. 

94:21-95:13; see also Ex. 3, Raborn Dep., p. 119:6-12.  This is meant to ensure that any matters 

1 HR Director Tessie Lejeune, Major Wendell Raborn, and Captain Dickie Fremin 
appeared as Rule 30(b)(6) designees for IPSO.  Their testimony was recorded in a single 
transcript, and relevant excerpts are attached as Exhibit 3. 

Case 6:17-cv-01365-MJJ-PJH   Document 33-1   Filed 11/23/18   Page 6 of 22 PageID #:  151



3 

1259874v.2

of concern in an applicant’s background are known before the applicant is interviewed.  After the 

interview is conducted, if the Captain in charge decides the applicant should be hired, the 

Captain fills out a form called a “Personnel Action Request” (PAR), which is then submitted to 

Sheriff Ackal for his approval and signature.  Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., pp. 36:14-21, 40:15-41:21.  

Sheriff Ackal’s signature on a PAR “means that the Sheriff has approved the hire.”  Ex. 3, 

Raborn Dep., p. 135:13-16; see also Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., p. 46:10-13.  In keeping with the 

ADA’s requirement that pre-employment medical exams take place only after an offer of 

employment is made contingent solely on the results of the medical exam (see 42 U.S.C. 

§12112(d)(2)-(3)), IPSO’s human resources department schedules a pre-employment medical 

exam only after it has been informed that Sheriff Ackal has approved hiring the applicant if the 

medical exam establishes fitness for duty. Ex. 3,  LeJeune Dep., p. 39:2-16. 

On February 20, 2012, Pierce applied for a deputy sheriff position with IPSO.2  Ex. 1, 

Pierce Aff., at ¶ 3.  In his application, Pierce revealed that he had been terminated by his prior 

employer, the APD.  See id. at Ex. A thereto (application for employment with IPSO).  Pierce 

had been terminated for an incident involving the discharge of his firearm while he had two 

prisoners in custody.  Id., attached Ex. B, Audio Recording: Interview of William Pierce, 2:30-

3:30 (March 27, 2012).3 He offered in the application to provide the Internal Affairs (IA) 

documents regarding this incident.  See Ex., 1, ¶ 4 and Ex. A thereto.  Before Pierce was invited 

to interview for the deputy sheriff position, IPSO completed a background check, including a 

2 At the time that he applied for the deputy sheriff position, Plaintiff used the last name 
"Proctor."  Plaintiff changed his last name to Pierce in 2015.  Ex. 1, Pierce Aff. ¶ 1. 

3 A copy of the audio recording of Pierce's job interview is authenticated by Pierce in his 
affidavit.  Ex. 1, Pierce Aff. ¶ 5. It will be manually submitted on CD. For convenience of the 
Court, counsel has prepared a transcription of the recording which is attached hereto as Exhibit 
2.  The cited portions of the audio recording are reflected on pages 1 and 2 of the transcription. 
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check of his prior employment history.  Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., pp. 92:10-94:18; see also Ex. 3, 

LeJeune Dep., Ex. 8 thereto.  If any issues of concern had arisen in the employment check, they 

would have been reflected in the background check forms.  Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., 94:15-18.  

Pierce’s background check contained no issues or concerns warranting further review.  See id., 

Ex. 8.   

When Pierce interviewed, IPSO was well aware of the incident that led to his termination 

from the APD.  See, e.g., Ex. 1, attached Ex. "B", Audio Recording: Interview of William Pierce, 

2:30-3:30 (March 27, 2012).  At the beginning of his interview, Pierce was questioned 

specifically about the circumstances of his termination from the APD.  Id.  Pierce was 

completely candid in his response, and the interviewer informed Pierce that he “wasn’t troubled 

by it.”  Id. at 2:55.  The interview continued for another half an hour after Pierce was questioned 

about his termination from the APD.  See generally id.  In addition to the information that Pierce 

provided and any information that may have been uncovered during the background check, IPSO 

employed other former members of the APD and they were asked about the incident that led to 

Pierce’s termination.  See id. at 2:30-3:30.  By the time Pierce’s PAR was approved by both 

Captain Boudreaux and Sheriff Ackal, he had been fully vetted and those making the hiring 

decision were well aware of the incident that led to his termination from his prior job.  Ex. 3, 

LeJeune Dep., p. 45:8-14; see also Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., Ex. 3 thereto. 

Pierce was informed he had been approved for hire pending a medical examination.  Ex. 

1, Pierce Aff. at ¶ 6.  Pierce undertook the required examination at Teche Occupational Medical 

Clinic on April 11, 2012.  Id.  He explicitly noted on the pre-exam forms he completed that he is 

living with HIV.  Id.  After completing the medical exam—and with full knowledge of Pierce’s 

HIV status—the healthcare provider stated there were “no significant abnormalities or medical 
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findings” and that Pierce was medically qualified to perform all essential duties of his position 

without accommodation.  Id.; see also Ex. 4, Broussard Dep., pp. 26:22-27:10.  As was the 

practice of the healthcare providers at the Teche Occupational Medical Clinic, they nonetheless 

informed IPSO as part of the medical exam results that Pierce had tested positive for HIV.  See

Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., Ex. 6 thereto.  IPSO’s Human Resources Director, Tessie LeJeune, brought 

this to the attention of Defendant Ryan Turner and Chief Richard Hazelwood on April 16, 2012.  

Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., pp. 80:4-82:5.  Subsequent to this, Turner and Hazelwood brought the 

medical exam results to Sheriff Ackal.  On April 18, Turner informed LeJeune that Pierce would 

not be hired and asked her to send a letter to Pierce informing him of the decision.  Id. at pp. 

81:2-83:4; see also Ex. 1, Pierce Affidavit, Ex. "D" thereto. 

After receiving the rejection letter from IPSO, Pierce filed a complaint with the EEOC 

for disability discrimination.  After receiving his right-to-sue letter over five years later, Pierce 

brought the present action for monetary and injunctive relief under Title I of the ADA.  See Rec. 

Doc. 14, First Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 29-35.  IPSO now claims it was not Pierce’s HIV status, 

but rather the prior incident in Abbeville—of which the IPSO had been aware since before Pierce 

was interviewed—that is the reason he was rejected for employment as a deputy sheriff.  Rule 

26(f) Report, Rec. Doc. 15 at p. 2. 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. Summary Judgment Standard 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(a) states that summary judgment shall be granted if 

“the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 56(a).  “Only disputes over facts that 

might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law will properly preclude entry of 

summary judgment.”  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986).  In order for 
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the nonmoving party to defeat a motion for summary judgment, “the evidence must be of such a 

character that reasonable men exercising impartial judgment may differ in their conclusion.”  

N.L.R.B. v. Smith Indus., Inc., 403 F.2d 889, 892-93 (5th Cir. 1968) (internal citations omitted).  

Only admissible evidence may be considered in ruling on a motion for summary judgment, and 

conclusory allegations without factual support will not defeat a motion for summary judgment.  

See D’Onofrio v. Vacation Publ'ns, Inc., 888 F.3d 197, 208 (5th Cir. 2018).  The trier of fact 

does not have “a duty to sift through the record in search of evidence to support the nonmovant’s 

opposition to summary judgment.”  Carr v. Air Line Pilots Ass'n, Int'l, 866 F.3d 597, 601 (5th 

Cir. 2017).  As Defendants cannot demonstrate a genuine dispute over any material fact 

regarding their discriminatory refusal to hire Plaintiff, summary judgment on liability in 

Plaintiff’s favor is appropriate. 

B. The Actions of the IPSO Violate the ADA 

Under the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act (the “ADA”), “[n]o covered 

entity shall discriminate against a qualified individual on the basis of disability in regard to . . . 

the hiring . . . of employees.”  42 U.S.C. § 12112(a).  If, as in this case, the employer has not 

made explicit discriminatory statements, “this court applies the McDonnell Douglas burden-

shifting framework” to determine liability.  E.E.O.C. v. Chevron Phillips Chem. Co., LP, 570 

F.3d 606, 615 (5th Cir. 2009).  Under this framework, the plaintiff must prove: “(1) that he has a 

disability; (2) that he was qualified for the job; [and] (3) that he was subject to an adverse 

employment decision on account of his disability.”  Zenor v. El Paso Healthcare Sys., Ltd., 176 

F.3d 847, 853 (5th Cir. 1999).  “[T]he burden then shifts to the employer to articulate a 

legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action.”  Johnson v. JP 

Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., 293 F. Supp. 3d 600, 609 (W.D. La. 2018).  If the employer does so, 
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“the burden shifts back to [the Plaintiff] to show that [the Defendant’s] proffered reason is 

pretextual.”  E.E.O.C. v. LHC Group, Inc., 773 F.3d 688, 694 (5th Cir. 2014).   

1. The IPSO is a covered entity. 

The ADA applies only to covered entities.  A “covered entity” under the ADA is “an 

employer, employment agency, labor organization, or joint labor-management committee.”  42 

U.S.C. § 12111(2).  An “employer” is “a person engaged in commerce who has 15 or more 

employees for each working day in each of 20 or more calendar weeks in the current or 

preceding calendar year.”  42 U.S.C. § 12111(5)(A).  In Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint, 

Plaintiff alleged that IPSO is an employer under the ADA.  Rec. Doc. 14 at ¶ 30.  Defendants 

admit that the IPSO is an employer under the ADA.  Rec. Doc. 21, Def. Ans. at XXXI.  Thus, 

IPSO is a covered entity for purposes of this suit. 

2. Pierce is an individual with a disability. 

In the ADA, “[t]he term ‘disability’ means, with respect to an individual[,] a physical or 

mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities.”  42 U.S.C. § 

12102(1)(A).  “[A] major life activity also includes the operation of a major bodily function, 

including but not limited to, functions of the immune system.”  42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)(B).  “The 

determination of whether an impairment substantially limits a major life activity shall be made 

without regard to the ameliorative effects of mitigating measures such as . . . medication.”  42 

U.S.C. § 12102(4)(E)(i)(I).  HIV, a virus that attacks and impairs the immune system, falls 

squarely within the ADA’s definition of a disability.  See Bragdon v. Abbott, 524 U.S. 624, 637 

(1998) (“[HIV] is an impairment from the moment of infection”); see also, e.g., Nunes v. 

Massachusetts Dep't of Corr., 766 F.3d 136, 144 (1st Cir. 2014); Henderson v. Thomas, 913 F. 

Supp. 2d 1267, 1288 (M.D. Ala. 2012).  Mr. Pierce was living with HIV when he applied for the 

position with IPSO.  Ex. 1, Pierce Aff. at ¶ 3.  Without the medication he takes on a daily basis, 
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Pierce’s HIV would substantially limit the operation of his immune system.  Thus, Plaintiff is an 

individual with a disability within the meaning of that term under the ADA. 

3. Pierce is qualified for the job of deputy sheriff. 

“A plaintiff can establish that he is ‘qualified’ by showing that either (1) he could 

perform the essential functions of the job in spite of his disability, or (2) that a reasonable 

accommodation of his disability would have enabled him to perform the essential functions of 

the job.”  Moss v. Harris Cnty. Constable Precinct One, 851 F.3d 413, 417 (5th Cir. 2017).  

“Essential functions” are duties that “bear more than a qualified relationship to the job at issue.”  

Chandler v. City of Dallas, 2 F.3d 1385, 1393 (5th Cir. 1993).  In addition to any written job 

descriptions prepared before advertising a job, the Court may consider “[t]he work experience of 

past incumbents in the job; and/or the current work experience of incumbents in similar jobs.”  

29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(n)(3).  Pierce has produced strong evidence that he can perform the essential 

functions of the job of “deputy sheriff.”  Though it failed to produce a written job description 

outlining the essential duties of the position of deputy sheriff, IPSO has stated that the essential 

job duties for  “deputy sheriff” are “to handle complaints, make arrests, traffic accidents, 

patrolling the street to deter crime, shoplifters,” transport[ing] prisoners, transporting people to 

mental institutions, etc.4  Ex. 3, Fremin Dep., pp. 153:16-154:3.   

At the time of his application, Pierce had over a decade of experience as a first responder, 

including almost four years of experience as a police officer.  Ex. 1, Pierce Aff., ¶ 1.  While the 

IPSO does not maintain any specific criteria to determine an applicant or employee’s medical 

fitness for duty, it does require all new hires to submit to a medical exam.  Ex. 3, Fremin Dep., 

4 Because Defendant was unable to produce a job description outlining the duties of 
“Sheriff’s Deputy,” Plaintiff’s expert relied upon publicly-available job descriptions for this type 
of position from other jurisdictions.  
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pp. 161:25-162:3.  The purpose of this exam is to determine “if there are any abnormal findings.”  

Ex. 5, Bernard Dep., p. 38:12-14.  Pierce’s physical screening “did not find any significant 

defects that would prevent him from going to work.”  Ex. 4, Broussard Dep., p. 22:21-23.  Pierce 

has two chronic medical conditions: HIV and a heart condition.  Ex. 3, Raborn Dep., Ex. 11 

thereto.  The examiner nevertheless determined that Pierce was “employable without any 

accommodations.”  Ex. 4, Broussard Dep., p. 30:10-16.   

Furthermore, Plaintiff’s medical expert has opined that “no job duty . . . would present a 

risk of HIV transmission to another law enforcement officer or to a member of the public.”  Ex. 

6, Halperin Decl., ¶ 9.  Consistent adherence to HIV antiretroviral therapy suppresses the number 

of viral copies, or “viral load,” in the blood, which “improves and maintains immune function . . 

. prevents HIV-associated complications, and prevents transmission of HIV to others.”  Id. at ¶ 

10.  “If a law enforcement officer maintained a suppressed viral load, the already extremely low 

risk of transmission even in . . . extreme circumstances . . . involving substantial blood-to-blood 

contact would be significantly reduced.”  Id. at ¶ 11.  There is no evidence that Pierce lacked the 

requisite strength, stamina, or experience to perform the essential duties of deputy sheriff, or that 

his well-controlled HIV would in any way interfere with his ability to safely perform these 

essential duties.  Defendants do not dispute that Plaintiff could perform the essential functions of 

the job without an accommodation.  Defs.’ Ans. at XXXIII.  Thus, Pierce is a qualified 

individual under the ADA.5

5 Defendants cannot legitimately claim that Pierce is not a qualified individual because his HIV 
poses a direct threat to the health and safety of other individuals in the workplace.  See 42 U.S.C. 
§ 12113(b) (describing the “direct threat” defense); see also School Bd. of Nassau Cnty., Fl. v. 
Arline, 480 U.S. 273, 287-88 (1987).  Defendants have not articulated this as a basis for their 
decision not to hire Pierce and have not raised it as a defense in this litigation.  Furthermore, 
Plaintiff’s expert infectious disease specialist has opined that a sheriff’s deputy with HIV does 
not present a significant risk to the health or safety of others, and Defendants have identified no 
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4. The IPSO made an adverse employment decision based on Pierce’s 
HIV status. 

a. Pierce’s HIV status was the key motivating factor in the decision 
not to hire him. 

Under the ADA, “[n]o covered entity shall discriminate against a qualified individual on 

the basis of disability in regard to . . . the hiring . . . of employees.”  42 U.S.C. § 12112(a).  

Additionally, an employer may only require an applicant to submit to a medical examination 

“after an offer of employment has been made to a job applicant and prior to the commencement 

of the employment duties of such applicant.”  42 U.S.C. §12112(d)(2)-(3). “[D]iscrimination 

need not be the sole reason for the adverse employment decision, but must actually play a role in 

the employer’s decision making process and have a determinative influence on the outcome.”  

Pinkerton v. Spellings, 529 F.3d 513, 519 (5th Cir. 2008) (quoting Soledad v. U.S. Dep't of 

Treasury, 304 F.3d 500, 503-04 (5th Cir. 2002)).  An employer need not make explicit 

discriminatory statements to be held liable under the ADA.  See, e.g., E.E.O.C. v. Chevron 

Phillips Chem. Co., LP, 570 F.3d 606, 623-24 (5th Cir. 2009) (the timing of an employee’s 

discharge shortly after an accommodation request was strong evidence that her employer was 

“looking for reasons to fire her because of her disability or request for accommodations, or 

both”). 

It is evident in this case that Pierce’s HIV status was the determinative motivation in 

IPSO’s refusal to hire him.  According to IPSO’s own Human Resources Director, once an 

individual is sent for their medical exam, no other factors are considered in finalizing an 

applicant’s employment.  See Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., p. 46:14-20.  And the Division Chief and the 

Sheriff only see the results of the exam if Human Resources receives a notice from the medical 

expert to refute this expert opinion.  Thus, there is no need to analyze the current case under the 
“direct threat” standard articulated in Arline and Bragdon v. Abbott, 524 U.S. 624 (1998). 
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examiner that there is an irregularity.  Id. at pp. 57:19-58:1.  In this instance, along with the 

certification that Pierce was fit for duty as a deputy sheriff, Human Resources Director (“HR 

Director”) LeJeune received a form from Teche Occupational Medical Clinic on April 16 stating 

there were “abnormal findings” on Pierce’s medical exam and that he had tested positive for 

HIV.  See id., Ex. 6.  The HR Director brought the form and medical exam results to Defendant 

Turner and Chief Hazelwood, who then brought the results to Sheriff Ackal.  Id. at p. 81:3-18.  

The HR Director was subsequently informed on April 18 that IPSO was not hiring Pierce after 

all, and that she was to send him a letter to that effect.  Id. at pp. 81:19-82:5; id., Ex. 7 thereto; 

see also id. at pp. 83:5-84:16.  An application process that had taken almost two months was 

brought to an abrupt halt within forty-eight hours of IPSO being informed that Pierce is living 

with HIV.  Given the nearly immediate decision not to hire Pierce after being informed of the 

examination results—and the fact that by its own policies, IPSO has approved an applicant for 

hire and does not consider anything other than the results of the medical exam after the applicant 

has submitted to one—the only logical conclusion is that HIV was the primary and determinative 

motivating factor in the decision not to hire Pierce.  Given these undisputed facts, Plaintiff has 

more than met his burden to establish that the prima facie case of disability discrimination. 

b. IPSO cannot articulate a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason 
for refusing to hire Pierce and the justification it is attempting 
to offer is obviously pretextual. 

In order to escape liability under the ADA, IPSO must “articulate a legitimate, 

nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action.”  Johnson v. JP Morgan Chase 

Bank, N.A., 293 F. Supp. 3d 600, 609 (W.D. La. 2018).  IPSO has claimed that, contrary to what 

Pierce alleges in his Complaint, Pierce was not hired as a result of his disciplinary record while 

employed at the APD.  See Rec. Doc. 15.  However, as a result of explicit prohibitions regarding 

pre-employment medical exams found in the ADA, IPSO’s non-medical justification for its 
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refusal to employ Pierce should be disregarded in its entirety.  Furthermore, even without the 

procedural bar that should pre-empt this argument, it is evident Defendants’ purported 

justification for rejecting Plaintiff at the eleventh hour of the application process is mere pretext. 

Defendants should not be permitted to rely upon Pierce’s disciplinary record while 

employed at the APD as the reason for Defendants’ refusal to hire him.  The ADA requires an 

employer to make an offer of employment to a prospective employee contingent solely upon the 

results of a pre-employment medical examination before sending that prospective employee for a 

pre-employment medical examination.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12112(d)(2)-(3) (“[a] covered entity may

require a medical examination after an offer of employment has been made to the job applicant”) 

(emphasis added); see also Buchanan v. City of San Antonio, 85 F.3d 196, 199 (5th Cir. 1993) (if 

an offer of employment is conditioned on more than the results of a medical exam, then the 

administration of a medical exam is premature and improper); ADA Enforcement Guidance: 

Preemployment Disability-Related Questions and Medical Examinations (EEOC Oct. 10, 1995) 

(“a job offer is real if the employer has evaluated all relevant non-medical information that it 

reasonably could have obtained and analyzed prior to giving the offer”).   

The purpose of this prohibition is to make clear to an applicant when the hiring decision 

has been based upon some aspect of the applicant’s physical capabilities, which may implicate a 

disability as the motivating factor, and to prevent an employer from creating a post-hoc 

rationalization for the rejection of a candidate that was indeed impermissibly based on a 

disability.  See, e.g., O’Neal v. City of New Albany, 293 F.3d 998, 1008 (7th Cir. 2002) (“[t]his 

requirement is intended to ensure that an applicant’s possible hidden disability . . . is not 

considered before the employer evaluates an applicant’s non-medical qualifications”) (quoting 

ADA Enforcement Guidance: Preemployment Disability-Related Questions and Medical 
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Examinations (EEOC Oct. 10, 1995)).  If this provision of the ADA is not enforced by 

preventing Defendants from relying upon purported justifications other than the results of 

Pierce’s pre-employment medical exam, the provision’s entire purpose is defeated, rendering it a 

nullity.  If the Court applies and enforces this provision of the ADA, the McDonnell-Douglas 

burden-shifting analysis is at an end, and Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment on liability 

should be granted.     

Assuming arguendo, however, that Defendants are permitted to point to Pierce’s 

disciplinary record while employed at the APD as the proffered reason for their refusal to hire 

him—despite the clear mandate of the ADA—it is readily apparent this purported justification is 

mere pretext.  Once an employer articulates a non-discriminatory reason for taken an adverse 

employment action, the Plaintiff must “show that [the Defendant’s] proffered reason is 

pretextual.”  E.E.O.C. v. LHC Group, Inc., 773 F.3d 688, 694 (5th Cir. 2014). “A plaintiff may 

show pretext either through evidence of disparate treatment or by showing that the employer’s 

proffered explanation is false or unworthy of credence.”  Caldwell v. KHOU-TV, 850 F.3d 237, 

242 (5th Cir. 2017) (quoting Jackson v. Cal-W Packaging Corp., 602 F.3d 374, 378-79 (5th Cir. 

2010)).  In determining whether the stated reason is pretextual, the court can consider “both the 

evidence presented in the prima facie case and any [other] evidence the plaintiff produces.”  

Chevron Phillips, 570 F.3d at 615.  A rationale that is developed only after an employer resolves 

to make an adverse employment decision is pretextual.  Id. at 624. 

In Chevron Phillips, Plaintiff was terminated from her position after informing 

Defendant, her employer, that she had suffered a relapse of chronic fatigue syndrome (“CFS”).  

Id. at 612-13.  Defendant claimed that, because Plaintiff had not stated in any of her medical 

history paperwork that she had a history of CFS, she had improperly misrepresented her medical 
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history; as a result, Defendant had a legitimate justification for terminating her.  Id. at 622.  The 

Fifth Circuit disagreed with this conclusion.  Id. at 625.  Neither of Plaintiff’s supervisors had 

reviewed her medical history, and both asserted, incorrectly and without corroborating evidence, 

that CFS was a blood disorder that Plaintiff was required to report.  Id. at 624.  They made no 

attempt to follow up with Plaintiff’s doctor regarding her accommodation request or her abilities 

during her relapse.  Id. at 624-25.  Thus, the Fifth Circuit, in reversing summary judgment in 

favor of Defendant, said that, because Defendant made no effort to corroborate its own 

assumptions, “a jury reasonably could find that [Chevron Phillips’s] management first formed an 

intention to discharge [Plaintiff] because of her CFS disability or accommodations requests and 

only afterwards developed the purely pretextual reasons they advanced for their actions.”  Id. at 

625. 

Like the Defendant in Chevron Phillips, Defendants’ stated justification in the present 

case is revealed as false based on their own procedures, policies and conduct.  According to 

IPSO’s own hiring policies, “[a]n application will not be forwarded nor applicant interviewed at 

the division level until the background investigation is complete and the personnel officer has 

verified the applicant’s eligibility to be hired and the initial investigation is documented.”  Ex. 3, 

Raborn Dep., p. 119:6-12.  The scope of this investigation included an applicant’s prior 

employment.  See Ex. 3, Raborn Dep., pp. 122:15-123:3; see also Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., pp. 

94:21-95:13.  Furthermore, after an interview was completed, an applicant was scheduled for a 

medical exam only if the Chief of the applicable Division wanted to hire the applicant.  Ex. 3, 

Lejeune Dep., p. 39:2-16.  If the Division Chief had selected the applicant for hire, a PAR for the 

hire was generated and signed by three IPSO members, including the Division Chief and the 

Sheriff.  The PAR indicates that, contingent upon the results of the medical exam, the applicant 
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is hired.  Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., p. 46:10-13.  Both the Division Chief and the Sheriff signed a 

PAR for Pierce.  Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., Ex. 3 thereto.  If the policies and procedures of the IPSO 

were followed—and there is no indication they were not—any investigation of Pierce’s 

employment at Abbeville, including the circumstances of his termination, would have been 

conducted long before the Division Chief and the Sheriff signed off on the PAR for Pierce.  

Indeed, Pierce’s background check reveals that it was completed on February 29, 2012, and this 

document should have been in Sheriff Ackal’s hands when he made the decision to sign the 

PAR.  See Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., Ex. 8 thereto. 

Furthermore, not only was the IPSO aware of the circumstances of Pierce’s termination 

from Abbeville, but they had also determined that those circumstances did not concern them 

enough to influence their hiring decision.  Pierce disclosed in his application that he had been 

terminated by the APD and offered to provide the documents from the Internal Affairs (IA) 

investigation into the mater.  In the documentation of Pierce’s background check, his termination 

from Abbeville is not mentioned.  LeJeune Dep., Ex. 8.  Pierce was specifically asked about “the 

prior incident” with the APD at the beginning of his interview with the IPSO.  See Ex. 1, Pierce 

Aff., Ex. B thereto, Audio Recording: Interview of William Pierce, 2:30-3:30 (March 27, 2012).  

After asking a few confirmatory questions about the incident, the interviewer said, “[t]hat’s all I 

need to know.  I’m not even going to ask you anything more in-depth than that.  I’m okay with it.  

I don’t really have trouble with it.”  Id. at 2:55-3:05.  Pierce even offered to produce dash-cam 

footage of the incident, but the interviewer insisted that “I’m not even concerned with that.”  Id.

at 2:45.  The interview then continued for another thirty minutes.  Id.  If the incident was as 

disqualifying as Defendants now claim, it would not have been so easily brushed aside.  None of 
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the multiple IPSO employees involved in the application process raised any concerns about the 

incident that led to Pierce's termination from the APD.  

Finally, the decision to refuse Pierce a position came almost immediately after IPSO 

learned about his HIV status.  IPSO was informed of Pierce’s health status on April 16, and by 

April 18, a letter had been sent to him rejecting his application.  Prior to April 16, there was no 

indication that Pierce’s employment history was still under review.  As explained above, if 

Pierce’s employment history had still been a consideration in the hiring decision, that itself 

would have been a violation of the ADA.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12112(d)(2)-(3).  For IPSO to now 

claim that Pierce’s prior employment history suddenly became a deal breaker in that two-day 

span when it had not been concerning in the least to anyone in the IPSO in the preceding two 

months is simply beyond belief.   

The Defendant’s purported justification for refusing to hire Pierce is contradicted by both 

the facts and the implications of IPSO’s own policies.  If indeed his employment history was 

disqualifying, Pierce would never have been asked to interview.  At the very least, a PAR would 

not have been signed until such concerns were resolved.  The timing of Pierce’s rejection lays 

bare IPSO’s true rationale: it was his HIV status—and not any previous employment or conduct 

concerns—that led Defendants to their decision.  This is precisely the kind of discriminatory 

decision that the ADA was enacted to prevent.  Because IPSO cannot dispute the material facts 

laid out above and has been unable to produce any evidence corroborating its proffered 

explanation for refusing to hire Pierce, it is apparent that the purported explanation  is pretextual.  

See, e.g., U.S. v. Lawrence, 276 F.3d 193, 197 (5th Cir. 2001) (a mere recitation of “self-serving 

allegations [is] not the type of ‘significant probative evidence’ required to defeat summary 

judgment”).  
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III. CONCLUSION 

William Pierce was eminently qualified for a position as a deputy sheriff.  He had easily 

cleared every hurdle to employment with IPSO.  It was only after Defendants became aware that 

he was living with HIV that his past employment record—discounted as inconsequential a month 

before—suddenly became supposedly unacceptable.  Defendants have marshalled no evidence to 

support the bare assertion they are now making regarding the purported reasons for Pierce’s 

rejection, while the facts of the case, including Defendants’ own departmental policies, provide 

strong evidence that IPSO’s stated justification for refusing to hire Pierce was and is pretextual.  

As Defendants have not been able to raise a genuine issue of material fact as to any element of 

Pierce’s ADA claim, it is appropriate to grant summary judgment on liability in favor of 

Plaintiff.  

Dated: November 23, 2018 Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ J. Dalton Courson 
J. Dalton Courson, La. Bar No. 28542 

dcourson@stonepigman.com
STONE PIGMAN WALTHER WITTMANN L.L.C. 
909 Poydras Street, Suite 3150 
New Orleans, Louisiana  70112 
Telephone:  (504) 581-3200 
Facsimile:  (504) 581-3361 

Scott A. Schoettes, admitted pro hac vice 
sschoettes@lambdalegal.org

LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND EDUCATION
FUND, INC. 
105 W. Adams, Suite 2600 
Chicago, IL 60603 
Telephone:  (312) 663-4413 
Facsimile:  (312) 663-4307 
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Anthony C. Pinggera, admitted pro hac vice 
apinggera@lambdalegal.org

LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND EDUCATION
FUND, INC. 
4221 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 280 
Los Angeles, CA 90010 
Telephone: (213) 382-7600 
Facsimile: (213) 351-6050 
COUNSEL FOR WILLIAM PIERCE, PLAINTIFF

C E R T I F I C A T E  

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing Memorandum in Support of 

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Liabilityw has been served upon all counsel of record 

by CM/ECF filing, this 23rd day of November, 2018. 

/s/ J. Dalton Courson  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

LAFAYETTE DIVISION 

WILLIAM PIERCE, 

Plaintiff, 

VS. 

SHERIFF LOUIS M. ACKAL, et al., 

Defendants. 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
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* 
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* 
* 
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CIVIL ACTION NO. 17-1365 

JUDGE: UNDESIGNATED 

MAGISTRATE JUDGE: HANNA 

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S 
 MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON LIABILITY 

In accordance with Local Rule 56.1, Plaintiff William Pierce submits the following 

statement of undisputed material facts in support of his Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on 

Liability. 

1. Plaintiff William Pierce has been living and working in Louisiana since 2005, when he 

came to the state to assist in the recovery in the wake of Hurricane Katrina.  Ex. 1, Pierce 

Aff., at ¶ 1.   

2. Pierce brought with him over a decade of experience in public health and public safety 

from his time as a paramedic, emergency medical services (EMS) instructor, and 

HIV/STD educator in Ohio.  Id.   

3. In 2008, Pierce began his law enforcement career as an officer in the Arnaudville Police 

Department.  Id.   

4. In 2009, Pierce left the Arnaudville Police Department and became employed by the 

Abbeville Police Department, where he remained until 2012.  Id.
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5. After receiving an application from an individual in whom it is interested, but before 

inviting that applicant to interview, IPSO conducts a background check.  Ex. 3, Raborn 

Dep., pp. 122:15-123:3.   

6. This background check includes investigation into prior employment, including if 

necessary the circumstances of an individual’s termination from a prior position.  Ex. 3, 

LeJeune Dep., pp. 94:21-95:13; see also Ex. 3, Raborn Dep., p. 119:6-12. 

7. After the interview is conducted, if the Captain in charge decides the applicant should be 

hired, the Captain fills out a form called a “Personnel Action Request” (PAR), which is 

then submitted to Sheriff Ackal for his approval and signature.  Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., pp. 

36:14-21, 40:15-41:21.   

8. Sheriff Ackal’s signature on a PAR “means that the Sheriff has approved the hire.”  Ex. 

3, Raborn Dep., p. 135:13-16; see also Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., p. 46:10-13. 

9. IPSO’s human resources department schedules a pre-employment medical exam only 

after it has been informed that Sheriff Ackal has approved hiring the applicant if the 

medical exam establishes fitness for duty.  Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., p. 39:2-16. 

10. On February 20, 2012, Pierce applied for a deputy sheriff position with IPSO.  Ex.1, 

Pierce Aff, at ¶ 3. 

11. In his application, Pierce revealed that he had been terminated by his prior employer, the 

APD.  See Ex. 1, Pierce Aff., at ¶ 4, Ex. A (application for employment with IPSO). 

12. Pierce had been terminated for an incident involving the discharge of his firearm while he 

had two prisoners in custody.  Ex. 1, Pierce Aff., at ¶ 5, Ex. B (Audio Recording: 

Interview of William Pierce, 2:30-3:30 (March 27, 2012)).
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13. Before Pierce was invited to interview for the deputy sheriff position, the IPSO 

completed a background check, including a check of his prior employment history.  Ex. 

3, LeJeune Dep., pp. 92:10-94:18; see also id. at Ex. 8 thereto. 

14. If any issues of concern had arisen in the employment check, they would be reflected in 

the background check forms.  Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., p. 94:15-18.   

15. Pierce’s background check contained no issues or concerns warranting further review.  

See id. at Ex. 8 thereto. 

16. When Pierce interviewed, IPSO was well aware of the incident that led to his termination 

from the Abbeville Police Department.  See, e.g., Ex. 1, Pierce Aff., at ¶ 5 and Ex. B 

thereto (Audio Recording: Interview of William Pierce, 2:30-3:30 (March 27, 2012)).   

17. At the beginning of his interview, Pierce was questioned specifically about the 

circumstances of his termination from the Abbeville Police Department.  See id.  The 

interviewer informed Pierce that he “wasn’t troubled by it.”  Id. at 2:55. 

18. In addition to the information that Pierce provided and any information that may have 

been uncovered during the background check, IPSO employed other former members of 

the Abbeville Police Department at that time and they were asked about the incident that 

led to Pierce’s termination.  See id. at 2:30-3:30. 

19. Pierce’s PAR was approved by both Captain Boudreaux and Sheriff Ackal. Ex. 3, 

LeJeune Dep., Ex. 3 thereto. 

20. Pierce was informed he had been approved for hire pending a medical examination.  Ex. 

1, Pierce Aff., at ¶ 6. 

21. Pierce undertook the required examination at Teche Occupational Medical Clinic on 

April 11, 2012.  Id.   
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22. Pierce explicitly noted on the pre-exam forms he completed that he is living with HIV.  

Id.   

23. After completing the medical exam—and with full knowledge of Pierce’s HIV status—

the healthcare provider stated there were “no significant abnormalities or medical 

findings” and that Pierce was medically qualified to perform all essential duties of his 

position without accommodation.  Ex. 1, Pierce Aff., at Ex. C thereto; see also Ex. 4, 

Broussard Dep., pp. 26:22-27:10. 

24. As was the practice of the healthcare providers at the Teche Occupational Medical Clinic, 

they nonetheless informed IPSO as part of the medical exam results that Pierce had tested 

positive for HIV.  See Ex. 3, LeJeune Dep., Exh. 6. 

25. IPSO’s Human Resources Director, Tessie LeJeune, brought this to the attention of 

Defendant Ryan Turner and Chief Richard Hazelwood on April 16, 2012.  Ex. 3, LeJeune 

Dep., pp. 80:4-82:5. 

26. On April 18, Turner informed LeJeune that Pierce would not be hired and asked her to 

send a letter to Pierce informing him of the decision.  LeJeune Dep., pp. 81:2-83:4; see 

also Pierce Aff., at Ex. D thereto. 

Dated: November 23, 2018       Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ J. Dalton Courson 
J. Dalton Courson, La. Bar No. 28542 

dcourson@stonepigman.com
STONE PIGMAN WALTHER WITTMANN L.L.C. 
909 Poydras Street, Suite 3150 
New Orleans, Louisiana  70112 
Telephone:  (504) 581-3200 
Facsimile:  (504) 581-3361 
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Scott A. Schoettes, admitted pro hac vice 
sschoettes@lambdalegal.org

LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND EDUCATION
FUND, INC. 
105 W. Adams, Suite 2600 
Chicago, IL 60603 
Telephone:  (312) 663-4413 
Facsimile:  (312) 663-4307 

Anthony C. Pinggera, admitted pro hac vice 
apinggera@lambdalegal.org

LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND EDUCATION
FUND, INC. 
4221 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 280 
Los Angeles, CA 90010 
Telephone: (213) 382-7600 
Facsimile: (213) 351-6050 

COUNSEL FOR WILLIAM PIERCE, PLAINTIFF

C E R T I F I C A T E  

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing Statement of Undisputed 

Facts in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Liability has been served 

upon all counsel of record by CM/ECF filing, this 23rd day of November, 2018. 

/s/ J. Dalton Courson  
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LIAM PIERCE – JOB INTERVIEW AUDIO RECORDING TRANSCRIPTION 

How are we doing? 

Alright, good morning. 

Jeremy Kelley(?) 

Nice to meet you. 

How you're doing, I'm ______ Fremin  

Paul Venable (inaudible) 

Have a seat. 

My name is Scott Clostio 

Nice to meet you. 

Alright, you're on , __________ ? 

That's correct sir. 

You're close to _____________________ or Lafayette, it's a Lafayette address but Robert E Lee 
runs from ___________________________________ 

Yes sir, it does.  It changes names once it crosses over the bridge.  I live about a 
quarter mile before the bridge on the Lafayette side. 

Okay. 

Closer to East Broussard Road. 

Okay. 

In the little townhouses there. 

I kind of heard about you.  We have a couple of guys from Abbeville Police Department 
________________.  I know you were involved in a shooting which was cleared. 

Yes sir, I've got the dash cam, the video and the IEA investigation report. 

I'm not even concerned with that.  There was a policy violation within the department? 

Yes sir. 

Because there was a prisoner with you at the time of the incident, right? 

EXHIBIT 2
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Yes sir, I had two prisoners. 

That's all I need to know.  I'm not even gonna ask you about anything more in depth than that.  I'm 
okay with it, I don't really have trouble with it.  __________________ in the case that you're 
challenging the Abbeville Police Department on that policy or no? 

Yes sir, I do have an appeal filed. 

Okay. 

My intent is not to return working there, but I feel I have an obligation to stand up 
because they violated officer bill of rights as per civil service. 

Okay. 

No one has ever challenged them before and in my opinion I think City Council 
does things that are wrong and if they're not challenged they're going to continue 
the process and hurt other officers. 

How long did you stay with Abbeville – three years? 

Almost.  I was there about 2 ½ years. 

Who was your lieutenant? 

My lieutenant was Lester Lu… 

Lester Luquette? 

Yes sir – awesome lieutenant. 

[Laughter ]  . . . he must've changed . . . [laughter] . . .  

I know all those people from Abbeville . . . [laughter] . . . 

Luquette? Waynesboro? 

What do you think about Stan Suire? 

Stan Suire is a good dude. 

____________________ 

He's a good dude. 
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You're originally from Ohio? 

I was born in Texas, raised in New Jersey, went to college in Ohio and lived there 
for 15 years; came here to help with the Katrina aftermath, was here for Rita as a 
volunteer, and uhh . . . 

In the capacity of EMS? 

EMS, yes sir.  And then I worked in Rio, Brazil for about three years as an extended 
scope practice paramedic.  I did everything from ear, noses, eyes to tummy 
infections to whatever – sutures, whatever they had on their visit – there was no 
helicopter, I mean if you can get a helicopter in Brazil, you really don't want to ride 
on it.  And we were about 24 to 48 hours out from a port. 

How did they get you guys out on that? 

The rig would come in hopefully every two weeks. 

We'd have a port of call hopefully. 

Who were you working for when you came down to volunteer with Katrina? 

I was working for at the time a not-for-profit organization called Around the Clock 
Homecare, which it was a part-time position.  I ran a training center, American 
Heart Association training center, an EMS training center, also a disaster response 
group.  The commission chose not to deploy the medical disaster response team 
because they hadn't heard from FEMA.  I was told to wait before deploying the 
team and I waited for a week.  They still didn't want to deploy.  I couldn't watch it 
anymore.  I called down to Baton Rouge just to get one of the volunteers. 

Basically, you took it into your own hands, you and a friend of yours came down on your own 
without the support of the company you worked for and came help us out? 

That's correct. 

That's what I got from what I read.  I just wanted to make sure that that was the case, and the State 
of Louisiana appreciates the help because we sought help from all over the world during that.  We 
were some of the first ones there as well, and it was massive chaos. 

Yes, it was. 
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So we appreciate that help.  I was just curious as to what drove you to come and assist and 
apparently it was you that drove you to come and assist.  That's good to know. 

They fired me over the blackberry of the first week once they found out.  I was 
okay with that but thought it was the right thing to do for the right reason at the 
right time. 

They fired you for coming over here? 

Yes sir.   

You basically went AWOL, but I understand the grounds behind it.  ______________________ 

Other than Abbeville, have you worked anywhere else in law enforcement? 

Yes sir, I was an officer out at Arnaudville PD.  I applied at Abbeville prior to being 
employed in Arnaudville.  Arnaudville was short, Arnaudville hired me, I took the 
job because my heart was set on becoming a full time police officer even though I 
made $75,000-80,000 a year in Brazil working six months out the year.  I lost my 
mind – I wanted to become a police officer and Arnaudville called and I took it. 

You definitely lost your mind! 

Yeah . . . sigh. 

You think you made a good decision by getting involved in law enforcement? 

Absolutely.  Law enforcement is not easy, but if it was easy everybody would do 
it. 

Some people are still trying to do it because they think it's easy. 

[Laughter] 

Question __________________________________ 

While I was off on administrative leave I was helping a reserve officer who wanted 
to go full time and she had to get into shape so I told her, I said well I'm off, I've 
got nothing to do, I'm waiting, I'm on admin leave if you want to get a membership 
at my gym we'll go work out; and one day I took her over to run at Girard Park and 
then we drove over to the hospital and I drove up to the top floor, walked down the 
steps.  I said okay, now we have to run back up eight flights, and we went over to 
the gym, and she was like man, this isn't fair.  I said well, if you want fair, stay 
home and bake cupcakes – there's nothing wrong with it – but if you want to be a 
police officer it's not fair and it's not easy. 
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Are you working anywhere now? 

No sir, actually I just left um . . .  actually if I'm a little bit late, I do apologize – I'm 
getting hungry so I went and interviewed at a security company.  I need to pay a 
mortgage, my workman's comp has been denied by the city.  I'm sorry, my 
unemployment's been denied by the city which means I have to challenge that but 
in the meantime that's gonna take however many more weeks and I've got bills to 
pay.  My A/C just died, my iron died, I went to iron my shirt – the iron's not working 
for some bizarre strange reason; so I gotta work and if that means sucking up my 
pride and doing something that's less than what I'm qualified for I'll do what I gotta 
do to pay my bills and make a living. 

Where are you with the paramedic credentials – are they still standing, or have they lapsed? 

My state certification is valid; I maintained my ACLS, my Ohio paramedics cert is 
valid, I maintained my ACLS, I maintained my BLS.  In order to get . . .  

You maintained your National Registry? 

No, in order to get my national registry all I have to do is take a refresher course 
and retest my skills. 

Have you been out less than two years or is it three years with National Registry?  Basically didn't 
submit the education units to recertify? 

Right – and that was years ago when I was Ohio, Ohio was not a mandatory state 
at first. 

To be certified by the National Registry? 

Right, but to redo that all I have to do is a 48-hour refresher and I can take the 
National Registry again.  But I maintain my Ohio cert because long as I have that 
Ohio cert it's easier to get registered and I don't have to re-attend the full course.  
I'll never let my medic go. 

You shouldn't, and for a paramedic level how many do you continue now, 48, 60, somewhere 
around there? 

Yes, I think it's actually up to 80 now. 

80 now? 

It's a good chunk, but there are numerous online programs for a medic, which is 
good. 
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So that's really not an option to go to work as a medic in the State of Louisiana right now with 
where it stands? 

Right, that's correct.  In my heart is law enforcement.  I did EMS for numerous 
years. I've used my EMS skills in the performance of my law enforcement duties, 
but my heart is law enforcement.  I did EMS for so long I was a blank? medic. I 
was a fire-fighter lieutenant paramedic. I was an instructor.  I did urban EMS in the 
City of Cleveland; in my district we had this Zulu bike gang in the Hell's Angel's 
House. 

So y'all had some work to do? 

A little bit – a little bit. 

Trauma was the word, not a whole lot of medical . . .  

[Laughter] . . . we had a fair amount of trauma, that's for sure. 

How long have you been in Louisiana? 

I've been here since Katrina.  I went home for – actually I was blessed – I returned 
home after Rita and I sat down and said gee, I have all these bills and no money to 
pay them, I gotta job in Louisiana to return to October 10, what the heck am I going 
to do . . . well that was Monday, and I'm like that's enough, I've had enough . . . I'm 
going to sit down and relax, I'll worry about this tomorrow.  That night, my cell 
phone rings, it's a 504 number – that's New Orleans.  I pick it up . . .hey, is this 
Liam?  Yes sir . . . I don't know if you remember me, but my name is Bill, and you 
were one of the guys that inoculated the two busloads of people – I don't know if 
you remember. . . .  Yes, it's kind of hard to forget walking up and down a bus 
inoculating everybody on the bus – because at that point we were vaccinating the 
workers and so forth.  He said, hey listen – we got a doc and a nurse coming down 
here to do some vaccines for the next week, it's gonna be 14, 12 to 14 hour days 
every day . . . are you willing to come back to New Orleans and work for $50 bucks 
an hour.  Done!  The next day I was back on a plane and the first three weeks I was 
a volunteer.  The following fourth week I made enough money to pack up and move 
back to Louisiana.  So, you do the right thing for the right reason at the right time, 
and my opinion is you get that 10 times back and that's what I did because I made 
a couple thousand dollars in one week, which is hard to do, and I got to go travel 
and see the world on someone else's dime and get paid to do it.   

You don't have to answer this, but if you don't mind me asking, which security company did you 
apply with that you just interviewed for? 

Inner Parish. 

I'm not familiar with them. 
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Apparently they have several contracts over here in the area that work a lot of the 
casinos. 

[Talking. laughter] 

What's the name of it?  Inner Parish? 

It's not my first choice, but . . .  

You gotta make a living, you've gotta survive. 

I've gotta make some money. 

[Unclear . . .]  How long you've been unemployed or terminated from Abbeville? 

My termination was February 14 – Valentine's Day. 

A month?  Are you married?   

No.  I've been trying to stretch everything I can.  One of the reserve officers, he 
happened to call me up, well he sent me a text message – hey B, when are you 
gonna rent me your extra room?  Now!!  [laughter]  So I got another officer, actually 
he's applying to UL part-time, he's a CJ major who wants to go federal so he's 
renting my room. 

Young guy? 

Yes – 18.  I told him, I said if you want to do federal, apply soon. 

_________________ early age – get that degree first and then apply. 

I gotta teach him to clean the dirty dishes though! 

Where are you from in Ohio? 

Cleveland area.  I lived in Cleveland proper for numerous years.  I have friends in 
Columbus, I went to Columbus often.  Youngsville, that's a dying city. 

I'm from up there in Pittsburgh. 

Where?  Oh I love Pittsburgh, love Pittsburgh.  Actually in Cleveland, that's their 
sister city.  Matter of fact our union reps and supervisors would all go over to 
Pittsburgh stadium to see how many EMS guys called off and how many EMS and 
fire guys and police officers called in sick and were at the game in Pittsburgh. 

[laughter]  So the count was on!   

Remember _________________________.  Are you the gentleman that was charged with the 
carrying of a concealed firearm in Ohio? 
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Yes sir, I was. 

Can you explain the circumstances surrounding that, aside from what's indicated in the 
application? 

Absolutely.  Early on in '94 or '95 is when Ohio became a shall issue state.  After 
much thought I went and took the class, I got licensed.  At the time the Ohio law 
was new as some agencies did not like it, a matter of fact a couple of agencies 
throughout the state, the sheriff or police chief in the area said that they would not 
allow that to happen and no one was allowed to carry in their city.  The state had to 
come down and say no, you can't do that, but there was numerous people arrested, 
myself.  The situation with that was the law said that you can't carry it into a 
drinking establishment.  I agree 100%.  I left my weapon, I went out for dinner and 
a movie over approximately 3-4 hours, left my weapon in a lock box in my trunk.  
I had a drink and a quarter, maybe, and this was with a meal.  When I returned to 
my car, I felt I wasn't impaired, I reholstered my weapon.  But the state law requires 
that any time that you're in a vehicle and the vehicle was pulled over 1) your weapon 
has to be in plain view, whichever side the officer walks up.  So if you're left handed 
and the officer walks up on the right side of the car, you're carrying your weapon 
illegally.  That's a prime example of how ridiculous the law was at the time.  My 
friend who was driving had a traffic stop and one officer was on the driver's side 
and another office came up on the right side. 

Well you're covered then, you're good.  [laughter] 

Although I was not addressed, I did what was proper.  I rolled down my window, 
and said officer just to let you know I am a concealed weapons permit holder, my 
weapon is located on my right side, and I got spare magazines on my left.  At that 
point in time he asked me if I had had anything to drink and I said yes sir I did, over 
dinner.  They had me step out, they took control of my weapon, which is fine, I 
didn't have a problem with that.  I did a standard field sobriety test, asked for a 
breathalyzer and they never gave me one.  At the time in Ohio they had no 
specification for level of intoxication for a weapon.  Therefore, it would have been 
a .08 like it is for '98.  I asked for a breathalyzer, they never gave me one.  Walked 
into the station, I was in there maybe 30 minutes and then they released me.  They 
ended up releasing my weapon back to me.  I had an attorney at the time, I listened 
to the attorney.  I plead no contest to it, and they made it a first-time offender 
program, and I had no problems how it became dismissed.  The weapon was never 
in my hand, I was not intoxicated, I followed what I was supposed to do.  I mean 
had I done, had I kept my mouth shut, it would've never happened.  Matter of fact 
the property officer, when the judge returned my weapon, said I've never returned 
a weapon in 20 years I've worked here, I've never returned a weapon to somebody, 
and I don't think I was intoxicated.  I mean a drink and a ha… quarter maybe, over 
dinner 3-4 hours, I wasn't intoxicated; but I understand the officer's position.  He 
was given a directive of the city, a mentor, here is one of the cities that were anti-
gun, they didn't like the permits so anybody that had any inkling of a violation they 
were 15.  And is it right?  No – but that's a prime example of why I try to make 

Case 6:17-cv-01365-MJJ-PJH   Document 33-4   Filed 11/23/18   Page 8 of 15 PageID #:  198



- 9 - 

1259875v.1

reasonable arrests.  Just because somebody might or can be arrested doesn't mean 
they always should be arrested.  So that's it, I wasn't out there being a cowboy with 
my gun with a beer in a hand shooting it off.  I thought I was responsible, I locked 
it in my vehicle.  And when I was done, I reholstered.  That's what I did. 

Thank you.  Clears that up.  I just got one more question.  Your time that you spent in Abbeville, 
about how many arrests you made? 

Oh God . . . numerous. 

Put it to a number. 

I'd have to say wild, guess, 3400 maybe?  I mean, I arrest all . . .  

What's that mean – . . . 2 ½ years? 

Yes.  I mean that's just a wild guess, I know I wrote a lot of tickets, I was in traffic 
for a while.  My goal was about 5 or 6 tickets a day, whenever possible.  I mean 
there are some people, I mean – I've actually, my policy was, if one person gets a 
break, then the next person I pull over gets smoked.  Well, if that next person you 
pull over is a little old lady that has a bladder problem, she's on her way home, have 
a nice day ma'am, just try to slow it down.  So I mean, I wrote a lot of tickets.  But 
I'm very proactive.  I come to work to work.  I love night shift, I'm a night owl.  I 
always answer calls, always pick up the radio, if I hear someone down, I go heading 
over, I like to work. 

So you probably haven't worked the night shift in Abbeville? 

We switch over there.  My personal enjoyment is nights.  I'd rather sleep all day 
and work all night.  That's just my preference. 

Okay, we'll make a note of it.  There's probably one other question, the last question we would ask.  
I already made the note. 

I'm a 10A kind of guy – I helped organize the bike patrol over there, which 
Abbeville has this great program.  We were able to retrieve stolen bicycles and 
other items within a half hour of being reported.  The bike team actually was able 
to catch people breaking into houses. 

You could be a stealth, type of capacity, you know __________________ rode a bike for a while, 
doing the same thing. 

Oh yeah.  This year I got a new 29er, I got a Rockhopper 29 specialized – man that 
thing would climb to Jesus with those big tires. 

We still have the bikes, we just don't have the unit no more. 

I heard about that.  These things happen. 
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That's not true. 

I didn't think it was [laughter].  But, I like to work. 

Do you have any questions for us?  Oh Kelly has a question I believe.  Go ahead.  You didn't, 
didn't you?  No?   

I didn't, I mean I can think of something if you want me to.  What do you consider a busy night? 

A busy night is – a night that you don't have time to eat, you barely have time to 
pee, and you're running low on coffee! 

How many calls would you say – how many calls you average in one night? 

A night?  It varies, but I mean a busy night would be . . .  

You personally – how many you handled? 

Eight calls maybe?  That's a busy night.  I mean if you got eight reports to write 
that's a pretty busy night. 

Over here you would average about 10-12 calls a night. 

Awesome. 

That's on a slow night. 

Works for me!  Works for me!!  [laughter] 

That's on a Monday – calls we'd go to, probably 20-30 calls that you'll go to, calls that you're 
assigned to maybe 10 or 12.  

Awesome. 

Calls that you would go to are probably a lot higher than that, and that's not including what you 
create on your own. 

Awesome!  I like to work.  I mean, I'm going bonkers – as a matter of fact, one of 
the guys from Abbeville, he came over last night and we grilled up some pork chops 
and what not – I'm like man, I gotta start working.  I said its killing me.  I'm tired 
of not working – I mean now I go for 30-mile bike rides and then hit the gym 
because I'm bored, and that's with putting in applications and handling stuff, but I 
mean I like to work, I'm a worker.  I'm the kind of guy that if you're short-handed 
and you call me up and say hey man, can you come in, 9 out of 10 times I'm hopping 
in the car and I'm coming.  That's just the way I am. 
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Any disabilities that might affect the physical or anything like that?  You seem to be a pretty 
healthy guy. 

Very healthy guy.  A few years back, I did have two heart attacks, but matter of fact 
I just had my yearly visit with the cardiologist.  He looked at my stuff, he looked at 
the new test and he said wow, whatever the hell you're doing you keep it up.  I 
actually reversed the heart muscle damage I had had from the heart attack. 

It's supposed to be impossible to do that. 

It's supposed to be impossible.  He said I don't often see this, most people either 
stay the same or they [in background deteriorate] deteriorate.  But I go to the gym, 
I eat a high protein diet, I workout.  As a matter of fact, after the shooting instead 
of going home and grabbing a 6-pack which is really what I wanted to do, I dropped 
the uniform, put on gym clothes and I went and threw around the weights for a 
couple of hours.  That to me is more extremely beneficial to me as opposed to a 6-
pack of beer.  Now, I'm not saying I don't like to have a beer or two every now and 
then but I'd rather be in the gym – it's not uncommon to find me in the gym Friday 
night or Saturday night.  I try to hit the gym 4-6 days a week, and I'm not a big fan 
of running – if I run you're going to jail.  But I love to ride bikes, my roommate and 
I – I got him into biking and we actually, May 5th we're going to go ride 62.5 miles 
for the Special Olympics, providing that I'm not employed somewhere working, 
and I'm waiting to hear back if I'm on the Tour de Force in September.  Tour de 
Force is a 285-mile bike ride that this year it will be from Boston, Massachusetts to 
Ground Zero in New York over a four-day period.  All proceeds go to the families 
of fallen officers.  I just hope that they can find a slot for me.  I'm waiting to hear. 

They usually don't turn down anyone.  Any other questions about anything from us? 

What's the starting pay? 

[inaudible] [static]  So if you were hired, as soon as they get your verification paper work on post-
pay, you'd receive post-pay every day to hire. 

Awesome! 

Then you'd get back pay for [inaudible]. Twenty-six pay periods. 

And you guys have straight nights and straight days? 

Yes. 

That's awesome! 

You'd have to get your letter of service from Abbeville and get your form [inaudible]. 

I'm sure that won't be a problem.  The other chief, as far as I know, he's given me 
good references so far.  That's a plus. 
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They do have overtime available, off-duty security available for $___ an hour. 

That was my main . . .  

How's he giving you good references?  ________________________________ like that. 

Well, he's just uh, he told one chief it was all politics; he said it was all politics.  I 
don't know how that's possible, that they screw you on one side . . .  

Did you ever find out who you were____________? 

Yes – Jocarto Pitre (?).  We knew that night, we just couldn't prove it.  But the 
sheriff's office over there was able to put him in the car. 

So what happened to him? 

The grand jury returned a true bill for reckless operation of a vehicle and a no true 
bill for attempted murder. 

Wow, who's his dad? 

I forget his dad's name. 

Mr. Pitre!  [Laughter] 

I'll betcha not!  [Laughter] 

Not necessarily!  [Laughter]. 

Sounds like  John ________'s kid. 

Might be. 

Might be going by his mama's name. 

But – I mean, Jocarto, he's a thug.  He runs a lot of dope and he's a coward.  Matter 
of fact, the week after grand jury came back with everything, they 15'ed him on 
drug charges plus the warrant for wreckless op.  I mean, grand jury – who knows 
what they're going to do.  You can indict a ham sandwich, but . . .  

It's all based on the information that's provided . . . you can give all kinds of information to the 
grand jury. 

Yeah.  Which, they actually, I was getting nervous.  I was pacing, because they did 
both of our cases at the same time.  It was actually kind of funny.  One week I 
received a subpoena to testify on the state's behalf and then the next week I was 
sent a target letter.  I'm like how is this supposed to work?  But, they took 2½ hours 
to deliberate and I'm thinking what is this, the O.J. trial – come on really? 
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How long? 

2½ hours.  I was getting nervous – I mean, the thought of going to jail scares the 
living hell out of me.  I like being on this side and to be a target of the grand jury 
and waiting 2½ hours to hear the verdict and you're thinking – oh my God, I might 
have to go over to the place that I know for a fact smells nasty, is nasty, and I've 
put some of those people in there – it is an uncomfortable feeling. 

Who arrested on the warrant him for reckless operation? 

Jason Hebert, I believe made contact with him and he came to the office and turned 
himself in. 

The sheriff's office didn't arrest him that night? 

No. 

[inaudible]? 

No. 

Must've been snitching. 

Probably. 

[Laughter] 

I think that's it, straight days, straight nights, state pay.  If you choose to make me 
a part of your team, when would I expect to know? 

That, I really can't answer, because we make our recommendations to the captain, he sends it to 
the sheriff, and then it's up to him.   

I can tell you the last interviews that we did about a month ago, they were notified within three or 
four days. 

Okay. 

So, I'll give you an example.  If we did them on a Thursday, I think everything was done, they 
were notified maybe the Monday afternoon. 

Okay. 

I'd say probably by Wednesday of next week you'll know something.   

A week or two tops is usually is a fair bet.  Just depends on how much stuff administration has 
going on to get it all approved. 

I live in Lafayette – are take home units issued? 
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Long as 10-25 miles as the crow flies from the court house. 

Okay, got that. 

I think we have people farther than you and they fall within 25 miles.   

You can get special permission if you 're like say 2-3 miles over, they may allow you or they may 
not – but you have to get special permission. 

I should be within that 25. 

Yeah, as they crow flies.  You'd be surprised, you may be at 17 miles but when you start taking 
the road it ends up being 28 or 30, but we going to go by…..   

You got a _________________ report over here or you _____________ 

Works for me.  I'm fine with that.  I like court ____________________.  Then you 
get paid $50 bucks. 

You get paid on your check – you will get paid –  

it's just a matter of when it comes on your check.  That's another story.  District Court you get paid.  
City court ____________________.  

A little savings account.  I just went to court on, it was actually entertaining and 
actually I was glad to be there.  Actually I didn't even know I had court until I talked 
to Ryan Boutte.  I just happen to call him up to bullshit with him and he goes, hey 
man you gotta be at court tomorrow.  I said ummm -- I don't have a subpoena.  Here 
Lafayette had stuffed the door hanger with a note – hey you have court tomorrow, 
you have court on such and such date.  It was in the mail.  It wasn't a subpoena or 
anything.  So I called up the deputy and was like you have some subpoenas for me?  
I need those.  But in any case, it was Raquel Fickland (?), she filed a false 
administrative complaint and . . .  

______________________ daughter. 

Oh yeah – that's a piece of work right there.  But she wound up getting convicted 
of filing a false administrative report on a police officer.  That was beautiful.  It was 
entertaining. 

[Laughter] 

Alright, thank you for your time.  No other questions for me.  I can tell you, I'm not 
a perfect officer, I never claimed to be, but I'm willing to learn and I'm willing to 
work.  If you choose to bring me onto your team I'll do ya right. 

This is a good phone number for you – 316-1941? 

Yes sir.  I've got voicemail too.  I appreciate everything. 
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Nice to meet you. 

Thank you. 

[static]  

I parked in the front. 

[Static] 

_____________________ soon hopefully. 

Alright thank you. 

[Static] 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

LAFAYETTE DIVISION

WILLIAM PIERCE         CIVIL ACTION NO. 17-1365

VERSUS
                       JUDGE: UNDESIGNATED
SHERIFF LOUIS M. ACKAL,
ET AL                  MAG. JUDGE HANNA

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

DEPOSITION OF HAROLD BROUSSARD, PA-C

TAKEN FOR AND ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFF

AT TECHE OCCUPATIONAL MEDICAL CLINIC

510 JEFFERSON TERRACE

NEW IBERIA, LOUISIANA

ON MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 17, 2018

BEGINNING AT 3:10 P.M.

REPORTED BY:

KRIS M. CARVER, CERTIFIED COURT REPORTER

PILANT, a Corporation of Certified Court Reporters

1-800-841-6863

1EXHIBIT 4
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1 Q So it's sent through the mail?  

2 A Yes, sir.  

3 Q All right.  And on the first page of this

4 document -- I'm sorry.  This document in

5 particular is with respect to William

6 Proctor; is that correct?

7 A Yes, sir.

8 Q And it shows the date of exam as 4/11/2012?

9 A Yes, sir.  

10 Q And what does it say under "physical

11 findings"?

12 A "Within normal limits."

13 Q And the physical findings referred to there

14 are the things that are on the form that

15 Iberia Parish Sheriff's Office has you

16 complete for a patient?

17 A It refers to his physical examination.  And

18 yes, that form is completed at the time of

19 the examination.  

20 Q And what does "within normal limits" mean?

21 A That I did not find any significant

22 physical defects that would prevent him

23 from going to work.

24 Q And then below that there is a checkmark

25 next to abnormal findings as noted; is that

PILANT, a Corporation of Certified Court Reporters
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1 A He had a problem.  He had a history -- on

2 his history he had two MIs, myocardial

3 infarctions, heart attacks, in '03 and one

4 in '04.  I don't have -- I don't have that

5 he had any stents and I do not remember if

6 he did.  So I don't know if he had

7 stenting.  He did not have coronary artery

8 bypass surgery, but he did have coronary

9 artery disease in the past.

10 Q Were there tests that indicated to you a

11 current state of coronary artery disease?

12 A No, sir.  

13 Q And then what's the plan?  In the next box

14 it says "plan."  What's the plan with

15 respect to the cardiac -- 

16 A He's on medication.  He is on an exercise

17 program, and he stated that he had regular

18 exams and regular stress tests.

19 Q And HIV is not listed as a problem here; is

20 that correct?

21 A That's right.  

22 Q Then after that it says, "From your

23 examination of William Proctor, do you

24 consider enrollee to be in good physical

25 and mental condition, and capable of

PILANT, a Corporation of Certified Court Reporters

1-800-841-6863

26

Case 6:17-cv-01365-MJJ-PJH   Document 33-6   Filed 11/23/18   Page 3 of 5 PageID #:  241



1 performing duties with no limitations?" 

2 And what is the answer?

3 A "Yes."

4 Q And then after it says "with limitations or

5 with deficiencies," what's the answer to

6 that question?

7 A "No." 

8 Q And then -- and it says "disapproved." 

9 What's the answer to that question?

10 A "No."

11 Q And this document is signed by you?

12 A Yes, sir. 

13 Q We're going to now hand you what's been

14 marked as Exhibit 3.  Can you take a look

15 at those four pages, and let me know when

16 you've had a chance to do that.  

17 A (Reviews document.)  Okay. 

18 Q Do you recognize this document?

19 A Yes, sir. 

20 Q What is this?  

21 A These are results of the lab work that is

22 recommended by the parish school board.

23 Q By the parish -- what is that?

24 A I'm sorry.  By the parish sheriff's office. 

25 Q So you are supposed to -- Teche is supposed

PILANT, a Corporation of Certified Court Reporters
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1 Q And it shows that it was pre-placement

2 exam, so meaning before his hire, correct?

3 A Yes.  Correct.

4 Q And then can you tell us what the result

5 was of this -- what is this medical

6 recommendation?

7 A Medical recommendation is employable

8 without accommodations, pending drug screen

9 and lab work.

10 Q But by the time you filled this out, you

11 already knew that he was HIV positive,

12 correct? 

13 A That's correct.

14 Q So you had already determined that he was

15 employable without any accommodations, at

16 least with respect to his HIV?

17 A That's correct.

18 MR. SCHOETTES:  

19 Off the record for one second.

20 (OFF THE RECORD AT 3:37 P.M.)

21 (BACK ON THE RECORD AT 3:37 P.M.)

22 MR. SCHOETTES:  

23 Unless Mr. Barousse has some

24 questions for you, we are done. 

25 MR. BAROUSSE:

PILANT, a Corporation of Certified Court Reporters
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

LAFAYETTE DIVISION

WILLIAM PIERCE         CIVIL ACTION NO. 17-1365

VERSUS
                       JUDGE: UNDESIGNATED
SHERIFF LOUIS M. ACKAL,
ET AL 
                       MAG. JUDGE HANNA

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

DEPOSITION OF DOUGLAS ALLEN BERNARD, M.D.

TAKEN FOR AND ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFF

AT TECHE OCCUPATIONAL MEDICAL CLINIC

510 JEFFERSON TERRACE

NEW IBERIA, LOUISIANA

ON MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 17, 2018

BEGINNING AT 1:58 P.M.

REPORTED BY:

KRIS M. CARVER, CERTIFIED COURT REPORTER

PILANT, a Corporation of Certified Court Reporters
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1 Q On the first page, what does it say under

2 "physical findings"?

3 A "Within normal limits."

4 Q And what do the physical findings entail?

5 A They entail their vital signs, their eye

6 exam, their weight, their height,

7 everything that's on the physical form. 

8 And the actual physical exam is done.  We

9 don't write -- if they have a normal exam,

10 we don't write out any abnormal findings on

11 the form provided by the sheriff's

12 department.  They mainly want to know if

13 there are any abnormal findings, and he had

14 none.  

15 Q Now, you're looking at a different form. 

16 You're saying the form provided by the

17 sheriff's office.  Can you tell me what

18 that is -- what form that is that's

19 provided by the sheriff's office?

20 A Yes, sir.  This is their forms that we get

21 and we keep and we use.  And it includes

22 medical history, and then it goes on from

23 there.  And we get the physical exam.  And

24 -- 

25 Q So is that four pages in total that you're
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